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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF MARIN

MARIA RAPOSO

Case No.: CIV 1304406
Plaintiff

V.
DECISION
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., US BANK
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, SUCCESSOR
TRUSTEE TO BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO LASALLE
BANK, N.A. TRUSTEE FOR THE
HOLDERS OF MERRILL LYNCH FIRST
FRANKLIN MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST,
MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET-BACKED
CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-FF18,
SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING, INC,,
ET. AL.

Defendants
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This matter came on for hearing on demurrers to the First Amended Complaint, filed by
defendants US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE TO BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A. SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO LASALLE BANK, N.A. TRUSTEE FOR THE
HOLDERS OF MERRILL LYNCH FIRST FRANKLIN MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST, MORTGAGE
LOAN ASSET-BACKED CERTIFiCATES, SERIES 2006-FF18 (USB) along with SELECT
PORTFOLIO SERVICING, INC., (SPS), and by Defendant BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (BANA).

Joseph Jaramillo represented Plaintiff. Stephanie Wraight represented USB and SPS.

Matthew Vesterdahl represented BANA.

After consideration of the pleadings and oral arguments, the court rules as follows:
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L DEMURRERS OF DEFENDANTS U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCTATION,
SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE TO BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. SUCCESSOR BY
MERGER TO LASALLE BANK, N.A. TRUSTEE FOR THE HOLDERS OF
MERRILL LYNCH FIRST FRANKLIN MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST,
MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-FF18

(“USB”) AND SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING, INC. (“SPS”).
Defendants’ request for judicial notice of the content of certain recorded documents (see RIN
Exhs.A, B) is granted.

A. First and Second Causes of Action - Breach of contract

USB’s demurrers to the first and second causes of action are overruled.

Defendants allegedly agreed to modify Plaintiff’s loan, including a reduction in the interest rate
and monthly payments. Defendants failed to properly credit Plaintiff’s timely payments under the
revised schedule, treated her loan as delinquent and threatened foreclosure. Plaintiff adequately set
forth the relevant terms of the HAMP agreement and Defendants’ breach of those terms. (See FAC,
9918, 33, and Exhs.C, D.)

The FAC adequately alleges the fact of agency. (See {8, 51, and, generally, 5 Witkin, California
Procedure (5th ed.2008), Pleading, §920. See also, e.g., R.G. Financial Corp. v. Vergara-Nunez (1*
Cir.2006) 446 F.3d 178, 187 (citing “typical[]” relationship between servicer and mortgagee).)

B. Fourth Cause of Action - Violation of Rosenthal Act

SPS’ demurrer to the fourth cause of action is overruled.

As to the meaning of the terms “debt” and “debt collector,” thé reported decisions are not
consistent. However, the better-reasoned decisions recognize differences between state and federal
law, and look to the particular conduct pleaded.

Where the claim arises out of debt collection activities “beyond the scope of the ordinary
foreclosure process,” the Rosenthal Act may provide a remedy. (See, e.g., Reyes v. Wells Fargo Bank,
NA (N .D.Cal.20‘12) 2011 WL 30759, at **19-21.)  Here, Plaintiff alleges a course of deceptive
conduct, and not the “mere act of foreclosure.” (Id. See also Esquivel v. Bank of Am., N.A. (E.D.
2013) 2013 WL 5781679, and Corvello v. Wells Fargo Bank, NA (9™ Cir.2013) 728 F.3d 878, 885.)
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C. Eighth Cause of Action - Unfair business practices

The demurrer by USB and SBS to the eighth cause of action is sustained based on the failure to
sufficiently allege facts establishing Plaintiff’s standing to bring this claim. Plaintiff is granted leave to
amend, within 20 days of notice of entry of this order.

II. DEMURRERS OF DEFENDANT BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (“BANA”).

BANA'’s request for judicial notice of the content of certain recorded documents (see RIN

Exhs.A, B) is granted.

A. First and Second Causes of Action - Breach of contract

BANA’s demurrers to the first and second causes of action are overruled.

Plaintiff pleaded the contract “according to its legal effect, by alleging the making, and then
proceeding to allege the substance of its relevant terms.” (4 Witkin, Cal. Procedure (5™ ed.2008),
Pleading, §519; see also §520.) Further, the FAC includes a copy of the 2013 HAMP Agreement,
alleged to-“mirror the terms of the 2012 modification.” (FAC, Exhs.C, D, and §33.)

Plaintiff adequately pleaded her performance. The first cause of action is for breach of the HAMP
agreement; the FAC expressly alleges timely payments under that agreement. (See, e.g., 17, 19, 24,
25,36, 42-43,52.)

While the second cause of action is for breach of the loan note and deed of trust, a plaintiff may
plead either performance or an excuse for nonperformance. (See 4 Witkin, Cal. Procedure, supra,
§515.) Plaintiff alleges that through the modification of loan terms, Defendants waived any right to
accelerate the loan and foreclose on the property so long as she made payments according to the new
terms. She alleges that she timely made all payments under those terms. BANA’s arguments do not
undermine the “waiver” claim.

B. Third Cause of Action - Promissory Estoppel

BANA’s demurrers to the third cause of action are overruled.

This cause of action is based on a written, signed agreement. The promises in such agreement are

clear and unequivocal; further, Plaintiff adequately alleges detrimental reliance. (See FAC, {164-66.
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See also, e.g., Chavez v. Indymac Mortgage Services (2013) 219 Cal.App.4™ 1052, 1061, 1063-1064,
and West v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 780, 804-805.)

BANA’s statute of frauds argument is not persuasive. Even if the 2012 HAMP agreement did not
comply with the statute of frauds, a general demurrer does not lie as to part of a cause of action. (See
Code Civ. Procedure, §430.10, subd(e).) Moreover, “when the doctrine of promissory estoppel is
applicable, the enforcement of an oral promise is not barred by the statute of frauds.” (See 1 Miller &
Starr, California Real Estate (2013), section 1:52, and cases cited therein. See also, e.g., Chavez v.
Indymac Mortgage Services, supra, 219 Cal.App.4th at 1058, and Munoz v. Kaiser Steel Corp. (1984)

156 Cal.App.3d 965, 972 (“The touchstone...is unjust enrichment of the party to be estopped or
unconscionable injury to the other party”).) Thus, BANA could prevail on this demurfer only by
showing that Plaintiff had not pleaded elements of promissory estoppel. Plaintiff’s pleading is
adequate.

C. Fourth Cause of Action - Violation of Rosenthal Act

BANA'’s demurrer to the fourth cause of action is overruled.

Asto the meanjng of the terms “debt” and “debt collector,” the reported decisions are not
consistent. However, the better-reasoned decisions recognize differences between state and federal
law, and look to the particular conduct pleaded.

Where the claim arises out of debt collection activities “beyond the scope of the ordinary

foreclosure process,” the Rosenthal Act may provide a remedy. (See, e.g., Reyes v. Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A. (N.D.Cal.2011) 2011 WL 30759, **19-21.)  Here, Plaintiff alleges a course of deceptive
conduct, and not the “mere act of foreclosure.” (Id. See also Esquivel v. Bank of Am., N.A. (E.D.
2013) 2013 WL 5781679, and Corvello v. Wells Fargo Bank, NA (9" Cir.2013) 728 F.3d 878, 885.)

D. Fifth Cause of Action - Violation of Consumer Credit Reporting Act

BANA’s demurrer to the fifth cause of action is overruled.

The allegations of the FAC are sufficient to establish a violation of Civil Code, section 1785.25,
subdivision (a). (See ]79-82 and, e.g., 1925, 29-31.) As earlier explained, Plaintiff adequately
pleads essential terms of the 2012 HAMP Agreement. To the extent 'any part of her claim may appear|
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to be barred by the statute of frauds, the pleaded facts would support an estoppel exception. (See

discussion of third cause of action above.)

E. Sixth Cause of Action - Violation of Equal Credit Opportunity Act

BANA'’s demurrer to the sixth cause of action is overruled.

As Plaintiff’s cause of action concerns only procedural notice requirements of 15 U.S.C. section
1691, subdivision (d), she need not allege membership in a protected class. (See, e.g., Vasquez v.
Bank of America, N.A. (N.D.Cal.2013) 2013 WL 6001924, **11-12; Boyd v. U.S. Bank, N.A.
(N.D.I1.2011) 787 F.Supp.2d 747, 757; and Costa v. Mauro Chevrolet, Inc. (N.D.I11.2005) 390
F.Supp.2d 720, 728-729. See also Owens v. Bank of America, N.A. (N.D.Cal.2013) 2013 WL
1820769, *5, fn.5.)

Plaintiff has alleged an “adverse action” within the meaning of Schlegel v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
(9th Cir.2013) 720 F.3d 1204, 1210-11. The FAC shows that Plaintiff executed and promptly returned
the modification documents. (Compare reply memorandum, p.7:4-6, with FAC, ]{18-22, 33-36.)

F. Seventh Cause of Action — Negligence

BANA'’s demurrer to the séventh cause of action is overruled.

In relying on what it describes as a “general rule” (see supporting memorandum, p.9:18-20),
BANA ignores Plaintiff’s allegation that Defendants actually approved her loan modification.
Through various erroneous or deceitful steps, BANA then failed to honor the modification. (See,
e.g., FAC, 49102, 99 and 72.) ‘ |

Applying the six-factor test outlined in Biakanja v. Irving (1958) 49 Cal.2d 647, 650, Plaintiff has
stated a negligence claim. (See, generally, Jolley v. Chase Home Finance, LLC (2013) 213
Cal.App.4™ 872, 902-906. See also, e.g., Ansanelli v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (N.D.Cal. 2011)
2011 WL 1134451, *7.)

G. Eighth Cause of Action - Unfair business practices
Based on the above analysis, the incorporated allegations and legislatively expressed public policy
(see, e.g., Civil Code, §2923.6), BANA’s demurrer to the eighth cause of action is overruled.
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In addition to threats of foreclosure, Plaintiff alleges injury to her credit record and wrongfully
imposed fees. The FAC shows her “standing” to bring this claim as to BANA. (See, e.g., 1136, 48,
46, 64,72, 75, 80, 82, 109, and Bus. & Prof. Code, §17204.)

Dated May 9, 2014 [ '
7T

PAUL M. SON
Judge of the Superior Court
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